RISKS AND BENEFITS OF NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT DURING CRITICAL ILLNESS

Yves Debaveye and Greet Van den Berghe

Department of Intensive Care Medicine, Catholic University of Leuven, B-3000 Leuven, Belgium; email: greta.vandenberghe@med.kuleuven.be

Key Words intensive care, nutrition, metabolic, glycemia

Critically ill patients who depend on intensive care for more than a few days reveal profound erosion of lean body mass, which is thought to contribute to high morbidity and mortality. Despite a shortfall of evidence that supplemental feeding actually alters clinical outcome of these life-threatening disease states, this observation evoked an almost universal, albeit often inappropriate, use of nutritional support (NS) in the critically ill, administered via the parenteral or the enteral route. Lack of knowledge and overenthusiasm subsequently resulted in complications associated with both parenteral nutrition (PN) and enteral nutrition (EN), which led to the standing controversy over which should be preferred. With time, however, it became clear that EN and PN are not mutually exclusive and that critically ill patients requiring NS should be fed according to the functional status of the gastrointestinal tract. In addition, tight blood glucose control with insulin is advised in fed critically ill patients because overall metabolic control appears to surpass any outcome benefit attributed to the route of feeding. Recently, various special nutritional formulas have been suggested to prevent or treat multiorgan failure in the critically ill, among other pathways via modulation of immune function. Although special nutritional formulas may be promising in a variety of clinical settings, based on currently available data, these cannot be recommended for routine use in critically ill patients.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	 514
RATIONALE FOR NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT	
DURING CRITICAL ILLNESS	 515
Simple Malnutrition Versus Hypercatabolism	
of the Critically Ill	 515
Nutritional Support Versus Starvation or "Standard Care"	 516
NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT: HOW MUCH AND WHEN?	 517
What Is Sufficient Energy Intake?	 517
Is Early Feeding Beneficial?	 518
ROUTES OF NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT	 519
Is the Use of Parenteral Nutrition Really Dangerous?	 519
Potential Advantages of Enteral Nutrition	 521

.....

Is Enteral Nutrition Without Risks?	. 521
Combined Enteral/Parenteral Nutrition	. 524
SPECIALIZED NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT	. 524
Alternative Lipid Solutions	. 525
Specialty Solutions	. 525
Immunonutrition	. 526
IMPORTANCE OF METABOLIC CONTROL	. 526
GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	. 528

INTRODUCTION

Throughout evolution, the human body has developed natural defense mechanisms to face and survive a great diversity of insults, such as disease or trauma. By definition, critical illness is such an insult, but its severity makes support of failing organ functions necessary, either with mechanical aids (such as mechanical ventilation, hemodialysis, or cardiac-assist devices) or with pharmacological agents (such as inotropes or vasopressors), without which death would rapidly ensue. Anorexia and intolerance of oral feeds lead to starvation, which, together with a multifactorial hormonal and immune response to stress, largely independent of the type of underlying disease (51), results in hypercatabolism of the critically ill (30). Because this orchestrated stress response is universal and has been selected throughout evolution, it is considered to be beneficial. Indeed, it liberates necessary fuel substrates for vital organs and systems, such as the brain and the immune system, while it reduces costly anabolism in the, for the time, less vital organ systems such as skeletal muscle (43, 152). However, the development of modern intensive care nowadays allows patients to survive conditions of a magnitude and duration that are beyond the capacity of these natural defense mechanisms. Over the years it became clear that survival mediated by intensive care also has a reverse side (69). By intervening in the natural course of the dying process, intensive care has unmasked previously unknown conditions, such as the "wasting syndrome" of the critically ill characterized by substantial protein losses (29). Development of this wasting syndrome is a major and frustrating clinical problem because it hampers the recovery process, despite adequate and successful treatment of the underlying disease. It contributes to prolonged dependency on intensive care, exposing patients to potentially lethal, often septic, complications and carrying a high risk of death (155). Indeed, almost a quarter of the adult patients requiring intensive care for more than three weeks do not survive the intensive care phase, and up to 50% do not leave the hospital alive (154). Those who do survive often need institutional care for a long time after hospital discharge.

In the era of evidence-based medicine, a medical intervention should be justified, preferably by prospective, randomized, controlled clinical trials. However, studies in the area of nutritional support are difficult to conduct, particularly in the intensive care setting, because of the heterogeneous nature of the patient populations. This explains the dearth of solid trials investigating nutritional support in

intensive care patients and why most nutritional strategies in the intensive care unit (ICU) are deduced from data obtained in noncritically ill, mostly surgical, patients. Furthermore, in most studies on the impact of nutritional support, no attempts were made to achieve overall metabolic control (9, 156). Hence, clinicians are lacking evidence-based guidelines on many important aspects of nutritional support of the critically ill patient, and thus the many standing controversies force them to use a more pragmatic approach to feeding in daily ICU practice.

In this review, we discuss the available scientific evidence for and against the use of enteral, parenteral, and combined nutrition in the ICU, and call attention upon the pivotal role of overall metabolic control during critical illness. In addition, we briefly evaluate the scientific basis for the use of selected specialized nutritional formulas.

RATIONALE FOR NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT DURING CRITICAL ILLNESS

Simple Malnutrition Versus Hypercatabolism of the Critically Ill

Malnutrition is a disorder evoked by inadequate nutritional intake and resulting in reduced body mass, abnormal body composition, reduced organ function, and abnormalities in blood chemistry, which together carry a risk of adverse outcome (31). The notion that malnutrition affects outcome of a superimposed stress or disease was already noted in 1936 by Studley (141), who reported that malnourished patients undergoing ulcer surgery had a tenfold higher risk of death than did well-nourished individuals. Nowadays, there is substantial evidence that patients who suffer from starvation or have signs of malnutrition are exposed to a higher risk of complications, such as nosocomial infections (128, 131), and an increased risk of death in comparison with patients who have an adequate nutritional reserve (52). Malnutrition is common among hospitalized patients (101, 105) and may be particularly deleterious among those who are critically ill (52). The notion of benefit attributable to nutritional support in such patients is based on the premise that nutrient intake can prevent or correct the malnutrition that accompanies the illness. In the discussion on efficacy of nutritional support, however, it is crucial to differentiate simple starvation-induced malnutrition from hypercatabolism of the critically ill. Indeed, critical illness results in changes in substrate metabolism and leads to clinically obvious alterations in body composition (166), but the metabolic status of critically ill patients is fundamentally different from "simple" starvation or malnutrition. Hence, the nutritional requirements of patients who are stressed by sepsis, trauma, or complicated surgery may be entirely different from those who are nonstressed and who need nutritional support only for repletion of energy stores. Although resting energy expenditure (REE) is depressed during simple starvation (26, 30), during critical illness it rises proportionally to the amount of stress (77, 143, 150). In contrast to simple malnutrition evoked by starvation, which is

reversible by careful and adequate refeeding, malnutrition accompanying critical illness is the result of a catabolic response driven by the underlying disease process and is not reversed by nutrition alone (135, 139, 163, 164). In the early days of intensive care, attempts to fully replace the nutritional losses led to overfeeding and resulted in a variety of complications. Since nutrition alone is ineffective to reverse hypercatabolism in critically ill patients, nutritional therapy in the ICU is at best to be considered "supportive."

Nutritional Support Versus Starvation or "Standard Care"

Undernourishment or starvation, if prolonged, ultimately leads to death, an outcome that can undisputedly be prevented by the provision of nutrients (70). However, how long critically ill patients can be starved or undernourished without clinical sequels is an unresolved issue. Although early feeding can change nutritional outcome during critical illness, there are no solid data as to whether nutritional support can modify the clinical course of the critically ill patient. Most of the clinical studies evaluating nutritional support focused on patients recovering from acute and self-limiting insults (e.g., surgery and trauma) instead of those with ongoing or progressive disease (e.g., shock and multiorgan failure). There are no data from randomized, controlled trials investigating the effect of nutritional support versus starvation in such a critically ill population. Also, only a handful of randomized studies, using clinically important endpoints, have compared the impact of parenteral nutrition (PN) with that of "standard care" (i.e., oral diet plus intravenous dextrose; critically ill patients receive glucose infusion because they are unable to eat) in the critically ill (1, 126, 129, 130). A meta-analysis of these studies concluded that PN of the critically ill may increase rather than reduce mortality (73). Furthermore, no randomized study has investigated the impact of enteral nutrition (EN) versus starvation or standard care during critical illness. Because of this lack of evidence and the belief that the intensity of the initial catabolic and inflammatory state hinders successful utilization and metabolism of externally provided nutrients, some authors postulated that nutritional support in critically ill patients is not beneficial (84, 97).

There are, however, several reasons why these conclusions may not be appropriate. Apart from the important methodological biases, most studies included well-nourished patients who arguably have little to gain from nutritional support but are nonetheless exposed to the associated risks of PN (161, 167). This notion is supported by data from the Veteran Affairs Study Group (149), which showed that only severely malnourished patients benefit from nutritional intervention before surgery. Further support came from two meta-analyses that reported that the use of PN in malnourished patients may be able to reduce complication rates (24, 73) and decrease mortality in comparison with standard care (24).

Hence, in this setting of scarcity of solid evidence, and with the rationale that it does not make sense to allow malnutrition to develop in order to treat it subsequently, the current guidelines are largely based on expert opinions and consider nutritional support in the critically ill as justified when inadequate oral intake for 5–7 or more days is present or suspected (5, 71, 168).

NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT: HOW MUCH AND WHEN?

What Is Sufficient Energy Intake?

The estimation of the energy requirement of critically ill patients remains a difficult, if not impossible, task. Indirect calorimetry to determine energy expenditure is suggested as the gold standard for assessing a patient's individual energy requirement. However, time limitations and financial restraints preclude the use of this method in everyday clinical intensive care practice. Recent work suggests that in sepsis and trauma the total energy expenditure (TEE) of critically ill patients rises from 30 kcal/kg/d in the first week to 50-60 kcal/kg/d in the second week (150). It is likely that the ratio of TEE over REE rises with time in ICU because newer approaches of mechanical ventilatory support allow patients to be more awake and physically active. This high amount of energy expenditure is in strong contrast with the American College of Chest Physicians guidelines recommending 25 kcal/kg/d as caloric content of nutrition for the critically ill (31). Furthermore, this target goal of 25 kcal/kg/d appears to be achieved in only two thirds of patients fed via the enteral route in real-life intensive care (59). Indeed, for years now, survey after survey has continued to show that the real practice in the ICU is to deliver considerably less than prescribed (38, 75). However, there is also no evidence to suggest that failure to match energy intake to energy expenditure adversely affects clinical outcome. Prospective studies in neurological intensive care patients have shown that early EN as compared with early PN is associated with clinical advantages, despite the fact that this mode of feeding failed to reach the preset goals for energy and nitrogen intake that were achieved in the comparative PN group (64, 170). The amount of energy delivered may thus be less critical than previously thought, provided that excessive hypocaloric (or hypercaloric) feeding is avoided. A recent prospective observational study of medical ICU patients even suggested that the classical caloric target of 25 kcal/kg/day may overestimate the needs, since caloric intake exceeding the mid-tertile of 9–18 kcal/kg/day resulted in a poorer hospital survival (87). However, this conclusion should be viewed with considerable caution because patients were not randomly allocated to different levels of caloric intake and the amounts given were highly variable.

The inability to deliver a preset amount of calories, particularly when EN is the only source of caloric intake, is often the reason why nutritional intervention trials have failed. In two large randomized studies that investigated early administration of an immunomodulating EN versus standard EN, morbidity benefits were only found in the 27% (6) and 30% (22) of patients who achieved the complete, although modest, feeding target. In other words, 70% to 73% of the included patients were distinctly underfed and had a higher mortality than did those patients who were

better fed (59). Similarly, in an open-label study of an immunonutrient cocktail versus standard EN, the striking benefits associated with the intervention may have been due to the fact that more calories were delivered rather than being related to the type of feeding (50). Similar observations were made in head injury patients. Two prospective randomized controlled trials at the University of Kentucky investigated the influence of early EN versus PN on neurological outcome. In the first study, enterally fed patients had significantly worse neurological outcome than did those receiving PN (123), whereas no difference was observed in a subsequent trial (170). These results, which initially appear to be conflicting, are probably explained by a poor enteral energy intake in the EN group of the first study (123), since the outcome difference was abolished with a more adequate energy delivery in the second study (170). Faster neurological recovery occurred with a higher amount of nutritional support in both trials (123, 170), a finding confirmed by other investigators (64, 148).

Although critically ill patients seem to cope with wide ranges of energy supply, and solid evidence for any amount is actually lacking, it is the opinion of experts that prolonged administration of markedly hypocaloric regimes (i.e., below 50% of metabolic requirements) is likely to promote rapid onset of malnutrition (122).

Is Early Feeding Beneficial?

It has been long known that inadequacy of recent dietary intake rather than the absolute nutritional status determines injury response and healing (165). During critical illness, nitrogen losses are huge, and nitrogen loss due to inadequate nitrogen or energy intake on one day cannot be compensated for by a positive energy balance on the next day. Indeed, the nitrogen-sparing effect of a positive energy balance is limited under these circumstances of critical illness (144). Postoperative insulin resistance appears to be induced by starvation rather than by the concomitant immobilization and can be reduced by preventing caloric restriction (117, 142). Furthermore, inadequate early nutrient intake in head-injured patients has been associated with prolongation of the acute-phase response and an increased incidence of septic morbidity (148). Animal studies also suggest a benefit of early EN versus starvation in protecting against oxidative organ injury through attenuation of lipid peroxidation (20, 146). Although the benefits of early nutritional support have been demonstrated at the cellular and tissue level and in animal studies of critical illness, the effect on patient morbidity and mortality is less clear (96). The reason for this is that clinical studies specifically addressing this question are lacking. Indeed, most studies have considered that early nutritional support is inherently good (88, 112) and have investigated potential benefits deriving from the route of early feeding (enteral versus parenteral) rather than the influence of the time at which feeding is commenced (122). This is unfortunate, because there is only poor evidence that early EN (10, 33, 46, 56, 66, 78, 137, 148) or PN (1, 126) has clinical advantages over brief starvation (i.e., 3–5 days). It is difficult, if not impossible, to ascertain relevance for intensive care practice from the available data owing to the heterogeneity of the studied patient population, the small sample sizes, the use of different feeding formulations and routes, and inconsistency about the term "early" and the minimal amount of energy delivered.

There is, however, some evidence, albeit indirect, to support early initiation of nutrition in the critically ill. A first bit of evidence comes from a Scandinavian study of 300 patients undergoing major general surgical procedures (129). Patients on glucose treatment (250–300 g) for a period of 14 days had a higher complication and mortality rate than did those receiving PN. A recent randomized multicenter trial that included 499 critically ill patients was actually the first study to provide more solid data to support the suggestion that early initiation of nutritional support can significantly alter patient outcome (98). Use of feeding guidelines reduced overall duration of hospitalization by no less than 10 days (25 versus 35 days), and patients in the intervention group showed a trend toward reduced mortality. A recent meta-analysis of studies on parenteral versus enteral nutrition (136) indirectly suggested that the beneficial effects of early feeding in se might even surpass those induced by the feeding route. Indeed, although there was no benefit from the use of PN when EN was initiated early (<24 h), a significant survival benefit from the use of PN was found only in the trials where EN was delayed (136).

Experts in the field have interpreted the scarce data on the issue of early versus late feeding as follows: If we fail to deliver adequate amounts of nutrition, it is not possible to catch up for the lost days of feeding. Or as so elegantly stated by Griffiths (57), "underfeeding is a debt that must eventually be repaid, and like all debts it is worse when it is compounded."

ROUTES OF NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT

Is the Use of Parenteral Nutrition Really Dangerous?

PN has been defined as an intravenous solution containing protein and a source of nonprotein energy with or without lipids (73). Because older studies showed a beneficial effect of infusing both glucose and amino acid on postoperative protein sparing (35), PN was advocated as an effective means to halt protein loss and muscle wasting. Based on the reasoning that if some nutrition is good, more must be better, the term "hyperalimentation" was coined and practiced in the surgical community. However, this enthusiasm revealed that well-nourished patients served no benefit from such an intervention and that the fetterless use of PN is not without inherent risks. These risks include infectious complications and metabolic disturbances, which may lead to adverse outcome.

Because of the frequent misuse of PN and the wealth of experience gained in all its complications in surgical patients, PN is nowadays considered by many to be a dangerous and risky venture in the critically ill (61). A recent editorial equating PN with poison (95) and a meta-analysis suggesting that the use of PN in critically ill patients may result in significantly increased mortality (73) further nourished

this fear. However, the meta-analysis covered 21 studies of surgical patients, of which only 6 included patients in intensive care. In addition, most of the studies had methodological problems: inclusion of noncritically ill patients (129, 130), overfeeding in the PN group (67), combined enteral and parenteral feeding (1, 67), and some reports on strategies that probably do not reflect current practice. This implies that the evidence provided by the meta-analysis against the use of PN is weak (160).

Another major point of controversy is the septic morbidity that is often attributed to PN. The theoretical background of this association is, besides risks related to the vascular access, the view that PN results in an altered gut barrier, prefacing the patient to translocation of enteric bacteria, which then could cause septic morbidity at a distant site. This concept was developed from results of animal studies demonstrating that PN adversely affects villus architecture and intestinal permeability. However, in human studies there is no evidence that PN causes atrophy of the intestinal mucosa (63, 80, 93, 134) or promotes bacterial translocation (92, 133, 134). The results of frequently quoted trials in abdominal trauma patients (88, 112-114) are largely responsible for the conviction that PN predisposes to septic complications. However, the investigated population differs markedly from the majority of patients receiving nutritional support in terms of age, type of disease, and nutritional status (15). Moreover, the relative protein and energy intakes in these studies were often not comparable, usually being much higher in the parenterally fed patients. Whereas most of the data advocating the risks of PN come from older surgical studies, most newer studies (after 1988) and studies with a higher methodological standard show no effect on the rate of complications (73). After careful review of these early studies, it has become apparent that the increased risk associated with the administration of PN could be largely attributed to the overfeeding rather than to the parenteral route itself (104). Clinicians are nowadays well aware that overfeeding can lead to infections and severe metabolic disorders, ranging from hyperglycemia, hypertriglyceridemia, and azotemia to hepatic steatosis, fat-overload syndrome, and hypertonic dehydration (83). With the risks of indiscriminate and inappropriate use of PN now well recognized and demonstrated, they can be prevented by conscientious calculation, monitoring, and titration of the provided nutrients (16, 61, 160). As a result, recent studies demonstrated that use of PN in surgical (23, 119) and critically ill patients (9, 156) is safe and is not associated with an excess morbidity or mortality. A meta-analysis suggested that use of PN may even be associated with a significant survival benefit over EN (136). Another large pragmatic study comparing PN to EN concludes that "when correctly applied, the complications of PN are less likely to result in death compared with those of EN" (168).

It is thus fair to conclude from the available data that PN, when used wisely, can deliver adequate nutrition safely. This is extremely important in view of the large numbers of patients in the ICU that do not tolerate adequate quantity and quality of nutrients via the enteral route for various reasons (121, 168) and the 8%–10% of patients in whom EN is not possible or safe (12).

Potential Advantages of Enteral Nutrition

Over the past 15 years, enteral nutrition has gained considerable popularity and is the currently recommended technique of artificial nutrition in critically ill patients (5, 31, 71). Almost every clinical study on nutritional support in the critically ill starts with the seemingly obligatory introduction that EN is the preferred method of nonvolitional feeding (93). Over the years, several advantages were indeed attributed to enteral feeding. EN is claimed to be more physiological, to promote gastrointestinal tract function and integrity, to prevent bacterial translocation, to reduce nosocomial infections, and to be more cost-effective than PN. However, with the exception of lower costs, the available literature does not support the other advantages so commonly ascribed to EN in critically ill patients (93).

Despite the trend to institute EN early in all intensive care patients, there is actually little evidence for the notion that EN beneficially alters clinical outcome (10, 33, 46, 56, 66, 78, 137, 148). A meta-analysis by Marik & Zaloga (96) suggested that early EN in critically ill patients may be associated with a significantly lower incidence of infections and a reduced hospital stay of two days. However, since there was a significant heterogeneity among the studies and the majority of the studies dealt with patients after elective surgery, it is difficult to draw conclusions from this meta-analysis for the use of early EN in critically ill patients (96).

Numerous studies have shown that the real-life intensive care practice of enteral nutrition comes down to underfeeding due to inadequate delivery of the nutrients (38, 45, 102, 109, 111, 168). A survey in a Swiss center, which is strongly advocating the use of early EN, documented that the proportion of nutrients adequately delivered was only 75% with EN versus 88% with PN (12). The main causes for not achieving adequate amounts of feeding delivered enterally are gut dysfunction, setting targets that are too low, initiating the feeding too late, elective interruption of the feeding for procedures, not using feeding protocols, and a tendency to stop enteral feeding too readily (59). Indeed, it is unfortunate that diminished or absent bowel sounds are still frequently, but incorrectly, interpreted as an indication of small bowel nonfunction, which results in unnecessary postponing or stopping of EN (31).

Is Enteral Nutrition Without Risks?

Many critically ill patients present with altered gastric emptying and decreased intestinal motility related to the GI consequences of their critical illness and side effects of mechanical ventilation as well as the use of sedatives, opiates, and catecholamines (21, 106). Because of this impaired GI motility, enteral feeds are often poorly tolerated by critically ill patients, resulting in adverse effects such as high gastric residues in turn leading to inadequate nutritional intake, reflux, emesis, and aspiration. Other problems associated with EN in the critically ill are abdominal distention, diarrhea, constipation, and, rarely, mesenteric ischemia.

Mechanical complications include misplacement or dislodgment of the feeding tube or malfunction originating from luminal blockage.

As nasogastric tubes are traditionally used to deliver EN, intolerance to EN is frequently defined by the appearance of high gastric residues, predestining patients for subsequent microaspirations and pneumonia. A carefully controlled study in ventilated patients confirmed that both gastric enteral feeding and feeding in the supine position, as opposed to the semirecumbent position, are independent risk factors for nosocomial pneumonia (41). This important finding firmly associates nasogastric feeding with nosocomial pneumonia independent of the position of the patient. Accordingly, several prospective, randomized trials were set up to evaluate whether there is a clinical difference when delivering enteral formulas into the stomach, the duodenum, or into the jejunum. Although "postpyloric" feeding may result in an improved tolerance of enterally delivered nutrition and concomitant faster achievement of the desired calories (85), no trial was able to reduce the incidence of nosocomial pneumonia compared with nasogastric feeding (37, 72, 81, 85, 109, 111, 115, 140). Contrary to popular belief, however, a study in medical ICU patients suggests that gastric feeding was able to be advanced to caloric goals sooner than jejunal feeding, and this without an increase in aspiration or other adverse effects (115). Because insertion of a feeding tube beyond the gastric pylorus is technically difficult, endoscopic or fluoroscopic guidance are frequently required. Since tube migration or dislodgment remain a major problem (+/-30%) (37), the clinician must always consider whether the effort and expenses are worth the trouble when placing one of these expensive enteral access devices (100). Furthermore, one must also consider that jejunal feeding is associated with a small, but substantial, risk of mesenteric ischemia (99, 132). Because tolerance to enteral feeding can be successfully predicted on clinical assessment alone in up to 92% of patients (168), postpyloric feeding can only be considered as an alternative to PN in patients proven or likely to be intolerant to nasogastric feeding. However, in most stable patients, EN can be safely started via the stomach within the first 12 hours of a patient's arrival in the ICU, eliminating the additional time for placement of postpyloric feeding tubes. This allows the delivery of EN in a time-efficient manner and decreases the costs of tube placement and nutrition delivery. However, it is important to recognize that strict attention to patient positioning as well as vigilant nursing care help to minimize the rates of complications with enteral access and may actually be more important than the location of the enteral access.

There are only limited data regarding the efficacy of motility agents in improving the tolerance of EN. Although metoclopramide was able to postpone nosocomial pneumonia by one day in the only outcome study on prokinetics in the ICU setting, its use was unable to decrease the incidence of pneumonia and mortality (169). A meta-analysis found that although promotility drugs, as a class of drugs, appear to have some beneficial effect on gastrointestinal motility, there is no evidence that they affect any aspect of clinical outcome (19). However, a recent randomized trial demonstrated that intravenously administered erythromycin not only promoted

gastric emptying but also significantly improved the chances for successful early enteral feeding (125).

Diarrhea is recognized as a common complication associated with tube feeding (32, 76, 110, 168). Its consequences can be serious and include infections and skin care problems, loss of electrolytes, and increased costs (118). It is thus of benefit to patients and of great interest to nursing staff that an enteral feed containing soluble partly hydrolyzed guar as a source of fiber successfully proved to reduce the incidence of diarrhea during critical illness (138). In this randomized, controlled trial in mechanically ventilated septic patients, there was a highly significant reduction (from 32% to 9%) in the percentage of days of feeding with diarrhea.

Because of the common belief that EN is inherently good, enteral feeding is nowadays increasingly tried in sicker patients with variable gastrointestinal tract function, who in the past either would have been starved or would have received PN (59). In contrast to PN, of which risks and complications were well documented in the literature, complications linked with EN have often gone unreported. Recent publications, however, have clearly demonstrated that gut dysfunction in critical illness, often viewed as upper digestive intolerance to EN (127), is a risk factor for unfavorable outcome. Upper digestive intolerance is associated with pneumonia (106), longer ICU (78, 110) and hospital stays (78, 106), and an increased risk of death that remained significant even after adjustment for severity of illness (106).

Because randomization previously resulted in significant numbers of patients being fed by an inappropriate route, Woodcock et al. (168) have taken a most elegant and pragmatic approach to the question of examining risks, complications, and outcome of feeding. Patients requiring adjuvant nutritional support were fed according to a clinical assessment of the adequacy of gastrointestinal function. Those considered to have inadequate gastrointestinal function were given PN, whereas patients with a functioning gastrointestinal tract received EN. Patients in whom there was reasonable doubt as to adequacy of gut function were randomized to receive PN or EN, thereby providing two truly comparable groups (167). By their pragmatic approach, the investigators overcame the problems of previous comparisons of EN with PN where opinions might differ as to the appropriateness of the particular route of feeding and consequently risk was poorly distributed (59). Patients and diseases of the two nonrandomized groups appeared to be conspicuously different. Similar to other recent feeding trials, there was no difference in the incidence of septic morbidity between the nonrandomized groups of enterally and parenterally fed patients; however, there was a highly significant increase of nonseptic feeding-related complications in the EN group. These complications were not minor since a significant excess in mortality was seen with EN, emphasizing some of the mortality risks associated with the use of EN. Although these survival differences could be seen as a consequence of the different patient populations in these two nonrandomized groups, exactly the same relationship between complications, adverse outcome, and EN was seen in the randomized part of the study. With randomization, the patients populations were balanced and the effects could be specifically attributed to the different route of nutrition delivery (59). Again, EN was characterized by a lower nutrient intake. The authors concluded that the time has come for the "EN versus PN" debate to be finally laid to rest and that the choice of feeding route should be determined by clinical assessment of the gastrointestinal function (168).

Combined Enteral/Parenteral Nutrition

Although EN is a safe option in the vast majority of patients when applied under close supervision, it is clear that it frequently results in hypocaloric feeding. This finding has prompted several authors to advise a combined parenteral and enteral approach in those patients unable to receive sufficient energy delivery via the enteral route alone (13, 14, 58, 167, 168). With the exception of some older studies suggesting an increased mortality risk probably associated with overfeeding (67, 68), there is actually no evidence that use of supplemental PN in the ICU, when EN fails to reach adequate amounts of energy delivery, holds risks. A recent prospective, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study (9) of 120 critically ill patients demonstrated that 7 days of EN supplemented with PN led to a faster recovery of the nutritional markers retinol-binding protein and prealbumin and reduced hospital stay by 2.5 days. There was, however, no difference in terms of morbidity or day 90 mortality, but this was not surprising considering the relative short duration of feeding and the small number of malnourished patients (9%) included in the study. Contrary to the negative view on PN, this study suggests that supplemental PN does not carry excess morbidity and mortality in the ICU. This was recently confirmed by a posthoc analysis of our intensive insulin therapy study (156, 158). In addition, a meta-analysis including five studies with combined EN and PN also did not document an increased mortality or infectious complication rate in comparison with EN alone (40).

Early EN, supplemented where needed by PN, thus appears to be a safe and effective means of achieving an earlier optimal caloric intake as compared with EN alone. The combined nutritional support may provide a protective window necessary for EN to restore intestinal function. Patients with questionable gastrointestinal function can be fed using a combination of EN and PN. The enteral feed can be increased according to tolerance of EN and PN, with PN decreased to avoid overfeeding (168).

SPECIALIZED NUTRITIONAL SUPPORT

Over the past decade, the field of nutritional support has undergone an enormous transformation. Originally, nutritional support was recommended as a way to provide energy [under the form of carbohydrates (60%–80%) and lipids (20%–40%)], protein (up to 1.5 g/kg/day), and essential micronutrients in order to offset muscle wasting and prevent starvation-induced immune depletion. Subsequently, various

"specialty solutions" have been launched that claim to be tailored to the nutritional requirements of specific disease states. In addition, alternative lipid solutions were developed. Furthermore, various "immune nutrients" have been suggested to prevent or treat multiorgan failure. Below, a brief overview is given of the rationale for the use of these products and of the results from available clinical studies in an intensive care setting.

Alternative Lipid Solutions

The standard fat component in PN is long-chain triglycerides (LCTs). Lipid solutions containing medium-chain triglycerides (MCTs) or structured triglycerides (STs) have been proposed for PN since they are oxidized more readily as compared with LCTs (39). Although short-term administration of an ST emulsion results in an amelioration of nitrogen balance in ICU patients (91), there is no evidence that this results in a better clinical outcome.

Specialty Solutions

Liver formulas containing an increased content of branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs) and a reduced amount of the aromatic and sulfur-containing amino acids are deigned for patients with hepatic encephalopathy. Although BCAAs may affect several nutritional parameters in patients with advanced cirrhosis (94), there is no convincing evidence to support the use of BCAAs for patients with hepatic encephalopathy (3, 94). Specialized pulmonary enteral solutions have been conceived for patients with acute pulmonary failure, particularly those with complicating chronic lung disease. These products contain a high fat-to-carbohydrate ratio based on the rationale that providing PN with excessive carbohydrate would increase CO₂ production and respiratory failure (4). Nevertheless, few data exist to support efficacy of this approach, whereas avoiding overfeeding is probably more important in decreasing ventilatory load (145, 151). In addition, although a specialized formulation—which contains eicosapentaenoic acid, γ -linolenic acid, and antioxidants—for acute respiratory distress syndrome appears to be promising (49), there is actually no proof for a survival benefit. Traditionally, critically ill patients with acute renal failure were treated with "renal formulas" characterized by low protein content. However, this dietary approach may be deleterious to the patient's nutritional status and unnecessary, especially if the patient is being treated with continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT). Since CRRT is able to remove the technical limitations of nitrogen intake and the loss of nutrients through CRRT is limited, critically ill patients with acute renal failure should receive normal diets (11). Diabetic EN solutions with lower carbohydrate and higher monounsaturated fat have a more neutral effect on glycemic control than does a standard formulation in hospitalized patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus (90). However, because strict glycemic control through the use of exogenous insulin should be pursued in critically ill patients (156–158), we doubt whether there is a place for such formulas in the ICU setting.

Immunonutrition

Glutamine is an important fuel for rapidly dividing cells in the gut and the immune system and is substrate for the synthesis of the endogenous antioxidant, glutathione. The possible benefit of glutamine supplementation has been evaluated in several controlled trials, most of which had serious methodological problems or were too small to draw definite conclusions (25). Some randomized studies suggest that glutamine-enriched PN is beneficial for critically ill patients who do not tolerate EN and who are dependent on PN for longer periods, as supplementation of PN with glutamine or L-ananyl-L-glutamine improved six-month survival (53, 62) and lowered hospital costs (62) in this setting. Studies investigating the addition of glutamine to EN in the critically ill, however, failed to affect mortality (34, 65, 79). A recent meta-analysis concluded that the currently available data on glutamine supplementation are merely hypothesis generating, excluding harm but not confirming benefit, and warranting adequately powered studies with relevant clinical endpoints (116). Hence, it is currently not appropriate to recommend glutamine supplementation as routine practice in critically ill patients.

Most of the trials on immunonutrition have used commercially available enteral immunonutrient cocktails, which include supplements of arginine, glutamine, nucleotides, and omega-3 fatty acids. Arginine, a precursor of nitric oxide, is advocated to enhance immune function (8, 36) and wound healing (82). Omega-3 fatty acids, particularly if fed before the pathologic insult, influence cytokine production and target tissue responsiveness (2, 44), and nucleotides are claimed to enhance host immune responses (47, 89).

Multiple randomized studies using enteral immunonutrition cocktails have been undertaken in the setting of critical illness or routine postoperative recovery, but the results remain controversial, as revealed by the most recent meta-analysis on this topic (74). Three large studies in ICU patients have been published (6, 22, 50). The two largest studies addressed hospital mortality (6, 22), and intention-to-treat analysis divulged a significantly increased mortality in the intervention group (60). This disturbing cognition was strengthened by the finding of the meta-analysis that in critically ill patients, studies of higher methodological quality revealed increased mortality (74). Until we understand the causes of these risks, generalized use of immune nutrient cocktails cannot be recommended for the critically ill.

IMPORTANCE OF METABOLIC CONTROL

Hyperglycemia and insulin resistance are common in critically ill patients, even those without a history of diabetes mellitus (104, 108), and initiating feeding may raise blood glucose levels even further. Hyperglycemia has been associated with poor outcome after cardiac surgery, myocardial infarction and stroke (7, 17, 27), and an impaired leukocyte function (124, 162) contributing to an increased nosocomial infection rate (54, 120). Traditionally, hyperglycemia was considered a reflection of severity of illness rather than an indication of harmful effect of

hyperglycemia. Hence, hyperglycemia up to 200–225 mg/dl in fed critically ill patients was tolerated (18, 31) and even considered to be beneficial for those organs and tissues that rely solely on glucose as fuel and that take up glucose independently of insulin.

Recently, this idea was disproved by the results of a large randomized, controlled, clinical study of early fed patients in a surgical ICU, further referred to as the "Leuven study" (156). The effect of strict maintenance of normoglycemia (blood glucose between 80 and 110 mg/dl) by intensive insulin therapy during intensive care was compared with the conventional regimen, which recommended insulin only when glycemia exceeded 215 mg/dl (156). Although conventionally treated patients revealed only mild hyperglycemia (mean blood glucose of 150–160 mg/dl), insulin titration to blood glucose levels below 110 mg/dl reduced hospital mortality by 34% (156). The duration of mechanical ventilation and ICU stay, the incidence of bacteremia, excessive inflammation, organ failure, and critical illness polyneuropathy were also significantly reduced (156). The benefit of intensive insulin therapy was particularly pronounced among patients with prolonged critical illness requiring intensive care for more than five days, with ICU mortality reduced from 20.2% to 10.6%. The study showed that controlling blood glucose below 110 mg/dl is crucial in order to obtain a maximum benefit (158), disproving the notion that a threshold level of 144 mg/dl would suffice (48).

In the Leuven study (156), best-evidence nutrition protocols were applied: EN was attempted as early as possible and, in order to achieve a preset target of total caloric intake, PN supplements were given when needed, resulting in patients being fed equally in both study groups. Energy intake was increased from an average of 7 nonprotein kcal/kg/d on day 1 to 23 kcal/kg/d on day 7, resulting in a mean intake of 19 kcal/kg/d. The average nitrogen intake ranged from 0.15 to 0.19 mg/kg/d. The improvements in outcome were entirely attributed to the tight glycemic control with insulin, and the intervention was equally effective regardless of the amount and route of feeding (158). This is in agreement with the knowledge that underfeeding by omitting lipids or by delivering hypocaloric parenteral nutrition prevents neither hyperglycemia nor its infectious complications (103). Exclusively parenterally fed patients required substantially more insulin in order to achieve normoglycemia than did those receiving EN (158). This is explained by the effects of enteral nutrition on incretin-mediated endogenous insulin release and may indicate that some of the potential risks of PN are due to its higher hyperglycemic potential. When insulin is titrated to achieve normoglycemia, this risk of PN disappears (158).

Apart from blood glucose control, insulin also exerts other metabolic effects. As in patients with diabetes mellitus (147), abnormal lipid profiles are observed in critically ill patients (28, 55). Most characteristically, circulating triglyceride levels are elevated, whereas the levels of high-density lipoprotein and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol are low (55). This dyslipidemia is partially restored by intensive insulin therapy, with almost complete reversal of hypertriglyceridemia and substantial increase in serum high-density lipoprotein and low-density lipoprotein

(107). Multivariate logistic regression analysis demonstrated that the improvement of dyslipidemia with insulin explains a significant part of the beneficial effect on mortality and organ failure and, surprisingly, may even surpass those of glycemic control (107). When controlling for all metabolic effects of insulin, including the lipid effect, the risk associated with a high dose of exogenously administered insulin (42, 48) disappears (107). These data provide a strong argument in favor of titrating insulin to doses required to achieve all metabolic effects (153). Clearly, blood glucose level is the marker that is most easily measured, and when insulin is titrated to normoglycemia, the other beneficial metabolic effects occur concomitantly.

Because it was unclear whether the benefits of tight glycemic control could be extrapolated to nonsurgical ICU patients, strict maintenance of normoglycemia with exogenous insulin in all critically ill patients remained controversial. Indeed, apart from observational data obtained in a mixed medical-surgical ICU population (86), scientific evidence for the overall practice of intensive insulin therapy on ICU was lacking. Recently, a large randomized, controlled, clinical study (157) confirmed that implementing tight glucose control with insulin, when continued for at least a few days, improves outcome of medical ICU patients to a similar extent as previously reported for surgical ICU patients.

Thus, both in the surgical and medical ICU population, titrating blood glucose levels below 110 mg/dl with insulin can be recommended as a relatively simple and inexpensive strategy to improve outcome. This strategy was also recently shown to reduce costs of intensive care via prevention of complications which require expensive therapies (159).

GENERAL CONCLUSIONS

As with most intensive care interventions, artificial nutrition carries risks that must be balanced against potential advantages. Artificial feeding should be restricted to those intensive care patients in whom malnutrition is present or expected. Avoiding too few as well as too many calories appears wise in the current state of the art, but evidence is not available as to the exact energy requirements. Making use of a functional gut is always preferable, but PN can be used for those patients with gastrointestinal failure. Early adequate feeding is to be encouraged whenever possible, preferably via the enteral route, but overzealous or inappropriate promotion of enteral feeding may blind one to its potential risks. The adequacy of the gastrointestinal function should determine the clinician's choice of route, but unlike for respiratory or renal function, there is at present no reliable measure available to assess this. Those patients in whom there is no clinical doubt as to whether the gut is or is not functioning should receive exclusively EN or PN, respectively. However, where doubt exists, as is often the case in critically ill patients, optimal nutritional support should be provided by using a patient-tailored combination of the two. Maintenance of normoglycemia with exogenous insulin in fed critically ill patients improves outcome and, since overall metabolic control seems to surpass the outcome benefit attributed to the route of feeding, this intervention may render the controversy regarding feeding route less relevant. Although special nutritional formulas may be promising in a variety of clinical settings, based on currently available data, it is not appropriate to recommend them for routine use in critically ill patients.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Work on this chapter was supported by the Fund for Scientific Research-Flanders, Belgium (PhD-scholarship, Aspirantenmandaat to YD, and G.0144.00 and G.0278.03 to GVdB), and the Research Council of the University of Leuven (OT 03/56 to GVdB).

The Annual Review of Nutrition is online at http://nutr.annualreviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Abel RM, Fischer JE, Buckley MJ, Barnett GO, Austen WG. 1976. Malnutrition in cardiac surgical patients. Results of a prospective, randomized evaluation of early postoperative parenteral nutrition. *Arch. Surg.* 111:45–50
- Alexander JW. 1998. Immunonutrition: the role of omega-3 fatty acids. *Nutrition* 14:627–33
- Als-Nielsen B, Koretz RL, Kjaergard LL, Gluud C. 2003. Branched-chain amino acids for hepatic encephalopathy. Cochrane Database Syst. Rev. CD001939
- Amene PC, Sladen RN, Feeley TW, Fisher R. 1987. Hypercapnia during total parenteral nutrition with hypertonic dextrose. Crit. Care Med. 15:171–72
- ASPEN Board Direct., Clin. Guidelines Task Force. 2002. Guidelines for the use of parenteral and enteral nutrition in adult and pediatric patients. *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 26:1–138SA
- Atkinson S, Sieffert E, Bihari D. 1998. A prospective, randomized, double-blind, controlled clinical trial of enteral immunonutrition in the critically ill. Guy's Hospital Intensive Care Group. Crit. Care Med. 26:1164–72
- 7. Baird TA, Parsons MW, Barber PA,

- Butcher KS, Desmond PM, et al. 2002. The influence of diabetes mellitus and hyperglycaemia on stroke incidence and outcome. *J. Clin. Neurosci.* 9:618–26
- Barbul A, Sisto DA, Wasserkrug HL, Efron G. 1981. Arginine stimulates lymphocyte immune response in healthy human beings. Surgery 90:244–51
- Bauer P, Charpentier C, Bouchet C, Nace L, Raffy F, Gaconnet N. 2000. Parenteral with enteral nutrition in the critically ill. *Intensive Care Med.* 26:893–900
- Beier-Holgersen R, Boesby S. 1996. Influence of postoperative enteral nutrition on postsurgical infections. *Gut* 39:833–35
- Bellomo R, Seacombe J, Daskalakis M, Farmer M, Wright C, et al. 1997. A prospective comparative study of moderate versus high protein intake for critically ill patients with acute renal failure. *Ren. Fail.* 19:111–20
- Berger MM, Chiolero RL, Pannatier A, Cayeux MC, Tappy L. 1997. A 10-year survey of nutritional support in a surgical ICU: 1986–1995. *Nutrition* 13:870–77
- Berger MM, Mustafa I. 2003. Metabolic and nutritional support in acute cardiac failure. Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 6:195–201

- Berger MM, Revelly JP, Cayeux MC, Chiolero RL. 2005. Enteral nutrition in critically ill patients with severe hemodynamic failure after cardiopulmonary bypass. Clin. Nutr. 24:124–32
- Bistrian BR. 2001. Update on total parenteral nutrition. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 74:153–54
- Bistrian BR. 2002. Route of feeding in critically ill patients. *Crit. Care Med.* 30:489–90
- Bolk J, van der Ploeg T, Cornel JH, Arnold AE, Sepers J, Umans VA. 2001. Impaired glucose metabolism predicts mortality after a myocardial infarction. *Int. J. Cardiol.* 79:207–14
- Boord JB, Graber AL, Christman JW, Powers AC. 2001. Practical management of diabetes in critically ill patients. Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 164:1763–67
- Booth CM, Heyland DK, Paterson WG. 2002. Gastrointestinal promotility drugs in the critical care setting: a systematic review of the evidence. *Crit. Care Med.* 30:1429–35
- Bortenschlager L, Roberts PR, Black KW, Zaloga GP. 1994. Enteral feeding minimizes liver injury during hemorrhagic shock. Shock 2:351–54
- Borzotta AP, Pennings J, Papasadero B, Paxton J, Mardesic S, et al. 1994. Enteral versus parenteral nutrition after severe closed head injury. J. Trauma 37:459–68
- 22. Bower RH, Cerra FB, Bershadsky B, Licari JJ, Hoyt DB, et al. 1995. Early enteral administration of a formula (Impact) supplemented with arginine, nucleotides, and fish oil in intensive care unit patients: results of a multicenter, prospective, randomized, clinical trial. *Crit. Care Med.* 23:436–49
- Braga M, Gianotti L, Gentilini O, Parisi V, Salis C, Di Carlo V. 2001. Early postoperative enteral nutrition improves gut oxygenation and reduces costs compared with total parenteral nutrition. *Crit. Care Med.* 29:242–48
- 24. Braunschweig CL, Levy P, Sheean PM,

- Wang X. 2001. Enteral compared with parenteral nutrition: a meta-analysis. *Am. J. Clin. Nutr.* 74:534–42
- Buchman AL. 2001. Glutamine: commercially essential or conditionally essential?
 A critical appraisal of the human data. Am.
 J. Clin. Nutr. 74:25–32
- Cahill GF Jr. 1970. Starvation in man. N. Engl. J. Med. 282:668–75
- Capes SE, Hunt D, Malmberg K, Gerstein HC. 2000. Stress hyperglycaemia and increased risk of death after myocardial infarction in patients with and without diabetes: a systematic overview. *Lancet* 355:773–78
- Carpentier YA, Scruel O. 2002. Changes in the concentration and composition of plasma lipoproteins during the acute phase response. *Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care* 5:153–58
- Carroll PV. 1999. Protein metabolism and the use of growth hormone and insulinlike growth factor-I in the critically ill patient. Growth Horm. IGF Res. 9:400– 13
- Cerra FB. 1987. Hypermetabolism, organ failure, and metabolic support. Surgery 101:1–14
- Cerra FB, Benitez MR, Blackburn GL, Irwin RS, Jeejeebhoy K, et al. 1997. Applied nutrition in ICU patients. A consensus statement of the American College of Chest Physicians. *Chest* 111:769–78
- Cerra FB, McPherson JP, Konstantinides FN, Konstantinides NN, Teasley KM. 1988. Enteral nutrition does not prevent multiple organ failure syndrome (MOFS) after sepsis. *Surgery* 104:727–33
- Chiarelli A, Enzi G, Casadei A, Baggio B, Valerio A, Mazzoleni F. 1990. Very early nutrition supplementation in burned patients. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 51:1035–39
- 34. Conejero R, Bonet A, Grau T, Esteban A, Mesejo A, et al. 2002. Effect of a glutamine-enriched enteral diet on intestinal permeability and infectious morbidity at 28 days in critically ill patients with systemic inflammatory response syndrome:

- a randomized, single-blind, prospective, multicenter study. *Nutrition* 18:716–21
- Craig RP, Tweedle D, Davidson HA, Johnston ID. 1977. Intravenous glucose, amino acids, and fat in the postoperative period. A controlled evaluation of each substrate. *Lancet* 2:8–11
- Daly JM, Reynolds J, Thom A, Kinsley L, Dietrick-Gallagher M, et al. 1988. Immune and metabolic effects of arginine in the surgical patient. *Ann. Surg.* 208:512– 23
- Davies AR, Froomes PR, French CJ, Bellomo R, Gutteridge GA, et al. 2002. Randomized comparison of nasojejunal and nasogastric feeding in critically ill patients. Crit. Care Med. 30:586–90
- 38. De Jonghe B, Appere-De-Vechi C, Fournier M, Tran B, Merrer J, et al. 2001. A prospective survey of nutritional support practices in intensive care unit patients: What is prescribed? What is delivered? Crit. Care Med. 29:8–12
- Deckelbaum RJ, Hamilton JA, Moser A, Bengtsson-Olivecrona G, Butbul E, et al. 1990. Medium-chain versus long-chain triacylglycerol emulsion hydrolysis by lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase: implications for the mechanisms of lipase action. *Biochemistry* 29:1136–42
- Dhaliwal R, Jurewitsch B, Harrietha D, Heyland DK. 2004. Combination enteral and parenteral nutrition in critically ill patients: harmful or beneficial? A systematic review of the evidence. *Intensive Care Med.* 30:1666–71
- Drakulovic MB, Torres A, Bauer TT, Nicolas JM, Nogue S, Ferrer M. 1999. Supine body position as a risk factor for nosocomial pneumonia in mechanically ventilated patients: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 354:1851–58
- Draznin B, Miles P, Kruszynska Y, Olefsky J, Friedman J, et al. 2000. Effects of insulin on prenylation as a mechanism of potentially detrimental influence of hyperinsulinemia. *Endocrinology* 141:1310–16

- Ellger B, Debaveye Y, Van den Berghe G. 2005. Endocrine interventions in the ICU. Eur. J. Intern. Med. 16:71–82
- 44. Endres S, Ghorbani R, Kelley VE, Georgilis K, Lonnemann G, et al. 1989. The effect of dietary supplementation with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on the synthesis of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor by mononuclear cells. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 320:265–71
- Esparza J, Boivin MA, Hartshorne MF, Levy H. 2001. Equal aspiration rates in gastrically and transpylorically fed critically ill patients. *Intensive Care Med*. 27:660–64
- 46. Eyer SD, Micon LT, Konstantinides FN, Edlund DA, Rooney KA, et al. 1993. Early enteral feeding does not attenuate metabolic response after blunt trauma. J. Trauma 34:639–43; discussion 43–44
- Fanslow WC, Kulkarni AD, Van Buren CT, Rudolph FB. 1988. Effect of nucleotide restriction and supplementation on resistance to experimental murine candidiasis. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 12:49–52
- Finney SJ, Zekveld C, Elia A, Evans TW. 2003. Glucose control and mortality in critically ill patients. *JAMA* 290:2041– 47
- 49. Gadek JE, DeMichele SJ, Karlstad MD, Pacht ER, Donahoe M, et al. 1999. Effect of enteral feeding with eicosapentaenoic acid, gamma-linolenic acid, and antioxidants in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. Enteral Nutrition in ARDS Study Group. Crit. Care Med. 27:1409–20
- Galban C, Montejo JC, Mesejo A, Marco P, Celaya S, et al. 2000. An immuneenhancing enteral diet reduces mortality rate and episodes of bacteremia in septic intensive care unit patients. *Crit. Care Med.* 28:643–48
- 51. Gamrin L, Essen P, Forsberg AM, Hultman E, Wernerman J. 1996. A descriptive study of skeletal muscle metabolism in critically ill patients: free

- amino acids, energy-rich phosphates, protein, nucleic acids, fat, water, and electrolytes. *Crit. Care Med.* 24:575–83
- Giner M, Laviano A, Meguid MM, Gleason JR. 1996. In 1995 a correlation between malnutrition and poor outcome in critically ill patients still exists. *Nutrition* 12:23–29
- 53. Goeters C, Wenn A, Mertes N, Wempe C, Van Aken H, et al. 2002. Parenteral L-alanyl-L-glutamine improves 6-month outcome in critically ill patients. *Crit. Care Med.* 30:2032–37
- 54. Golden SH, Peart-Vigilance C, Kao WH, Brancati FL. 1999. Perioperative glycemic control and the risk of infectious complications in a cohort of adults with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 22:1408–14
- Gordon BR, Parker TS, Levine DM, Saal SD, Wang JC, et al. 1996. Low lipid concentrations in critical illness: implications for preventing and treating endotoxemia. Crit. Care Med. 24:584–89
- Grahm TW, Zadrozny DB, Harrington T. 1989. The benefits of early jejunal hyperalimentation in the head-injured patient. *Neurosurgery* 25:729–35
- Griffiths RD. 1997. Feeding the critically ill—should we do better? *Intensive Care Med.* 23:246–47
- Griffiths RD. 2000. Supplemental nutrition; how much is enough? *Intensive Care Med.* 26:838–40
- Griffiths RD. 2001. Nutrition in intensive care: give enough but choose the route wisely? *Nutrition* 17:53–55
- Griffiths RD. 2003. Specialized nutrition support in critically ill patients. *Curr. Opin. Crit. Care* 9:249–59
- Griffiths RD. 2004. Is parenteral nutrition really that risky in the intensive care unit? Curr. Opin. Clin. Nutr. Metab. Care 7:175–81
- Griffiths RD, Jones C, Palmer TE. 1997.
 Six-month outcome of critically ill patients given glutamine-supplemented parenteral nutrition. *Nutrition* 13:295–302
- 63. Guedon C, Schmitz J, Lerebours E,

- Metayer J, Audran E, et al. 1986. Decreased brush border hydrolase activities without gross morphologic changes in human intestinal mucosa after prolonged total parenteral nutrition of adults. *Gastroenterology* 90:373–78
- 64. Hadley MN, Grahm TW, Harrington T, Schiller WR, McDermott MK, Posillico DB. 1986. Nutritional support and neurotrauma: a critical review of early nutrition in forty-five acute head injury patients. *Neurosurgery* 19:367–73
- 65. Hall JC, Dobb G, Hall J, de Sousa R, Brennan L, McCauley R. 2003. A prospective randomized trial of enteral glutamine in critical illness. *Intensive* Care Med. 29:1710–16
- Hasse JM, Blue LS, Liepa GU, Goldstein RM, Jennings LW, et al. 1995. Early enteral nutrition support in patients undergoing liver transplantation. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 19:437–43
- 67. Herndon DN, Barrow RE, Stein M, Linares H, Rutan TC, et al. 1989. Increased mortality with intravenous supplemental feeding in severely burned patients. J. Burn. Care Rehabil. 10:309–13
- Herndon DN, Stein MD, Rutan TC, Abston S, Linares H. 1987. Failure of TPN supplementation to improve liver function, immunity, and mortality in thermally injured patients. J. Trauma 27:195– 204
- Herridge MS, Cheung AM, Tansey CM, Matte-Martyn A, Diaz-Granados N, et al. 2003. One-year outcomes in survivors of the acute respiratory distress syndrome. N. Engl. J. Med. 348:683–93
- Heyland DK. 1998. Nutritional support in the critically ill patients. A critical review of the evidence. *Crit. Care Clin.* 14:423– 40
- Heyland DK, Dhaliwal R, Drover JW, Gramlich L, Dodek P. 2003. Canadian clinical practice guidelines for nutrition support in mechanically ventilated, critically ill adult patients. *JPEN J. Parenter.* Enteral Nutr. 27:355–73

- Heyland DK, Drover JW, MacDonald S, Novak F, Lam M. 2001. Effect of postpyloric feeding on gastroesophageal regurgitation and pulmonary microaspiration: results of a randomized controlled trial. Crit. Care Med. 29:1495–501
- Heyland DK, MacDonald S, Keefe L, Drover JW. 1998. Total parenteral nutrition in the critically ill patient: a metaanalysis. *JAMA* 280:2013–19
- 74. Heyland DK, Novak F, Drover JW, Jain M, Su X, Suchner U. 2001. Should immunonutrition become routine in critically ill patients? A systematic review of the evidence. *JAMA* 286:944–53
- Heyland DK, Schroter-Noppe D, Drover JW, Jain M, Keefe L, et al. 2003. Nutrition support in the critical care setting: current practice in Canadian ICUs opportunities for improvement? *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 27:74–83
- Homann HH, Kemen M, Fuessenich C, Senkal M, Zumtobel V. 1994. Reduction in diarrhea incidence by soluble fiber in patients receiving total or supplemental enteral nutrition. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 18:486–90
- 77. Hwang TL, Huang SL, Chen MF. 1993. The use of indirect calorimetry in critically ill patients—the relationship of measured energy expenditure to Injury Severity Score, Septic Severity Score, and APACHE II Score. *J. Trauma* 34:247–51
- 78. Ibrahim EH, Mehringer L, Prentice D, Sherman G, Schaiff R, et al. 2002. Early versus late enteral feeding of mechanically ventilated patients: results of a clinical trial. *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 26:174–81
- Jones C, Palmer TE, Griffiths RD. 1999.
 Randomized clinical outcome study of critically ill patients given glutamine-supplemented enteral nutrition. *Nutrition* 15:108–15
- Kanwar S, Windsor AC, Welsh F, Barclay GR, Guillou PJ, Reynolds JV. 2000. Lack of correlation between failure

- of gut barrier function and septic complications after major upper gastrointestinal surgery. *Ann. Surg.* 231:88–95
- Kearns PJ, Chin D, Mueller L, Wallace K, Jensen WA, Kirsch CM. 2000. The incidence of ventilator-associated pneumonia and success in nutrient delivery with gastric versus small intestinal feeding: a randomized clinical trial. Crit. Care Med. 28:1742–46
- Kirk SJ, Hurson M, Regan MC, Holt DR, Wasserkrug HL, Barbul A. 1993. Arginine stimulates wound healing and immune function in elderly human beings. Surgery 114:155–59; discussion 160
- Klein CJ, Stanek GS, Wiles CE 3rd. 1998.
 Overfeeding macronutrients to critically ill adults: metabolic complications. *J. Am. Diet. Assoc.* 98:795–806
- Koretz RL. 1995. Nutritional supplementation in the ICU. How critical is nutrition for the critically ill? *Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med.* 151:570–73
- Kortbeek JB, Haigh PI, Doig C. 1999.
 Duodenal versus gastric feeding in ventilated blunt trauma patients: a randomized controlled trial. *J. Trauma* 46:992–96; discussion 996–98
- Krinsley JS. 2004. Effect of an intensive glucose management protocol on the mortality of critically ill adult patients. *Mayo Clin. Proc.* 79:992–1000
- 87. Krishnan JA, Parce PB, Martinez A, Diette GB, Brower RG. 2003. Caloric intake in medical ICU patients: consistency of care with guidelines and relationship to clinical outcomes. *Chest* 124:297–305
- Kudsk KA, Croce MA, Fabian TC, Minard G, Tolley EA, et al. 1992. Enteral versus parenteral feeding. Effects on septic morbidity after blunt and penetrating abdominal trauma. *Ann. Surg.* 215:503– 11; discussion 511–13
- Kulkarni AD, Fanslow WC, Rudolph FB, Van Buren CT. 1986. Effect of dietary nucleotides on response to bacterial infections. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 10:169–71

- 90. Leon-Sanz M, Garcia-Luna PP, Sanz-Paris A, Gomez-Candela C, Casimiro C, et al. 2005. Glycemic and lipid control in hospitalized type 2 diabetic patients: evaluation of 2 enteral nutrition formulas (low carbohydrate–high monounsaturated fat vs. high carbohydrate). JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 29:21–29
- Lindgren BF, Ruokonen E, Magnusson-Borg K, Takala J. 2001. Nitrogen sparing effect of structured triglycerides containing both medium- and long-chain fatty acids in critically ill patients: a double blind randomized controlled trial. Clin. Nutr. 20:43–48
- Lipman TO. 1995. Bacterial translocation and enteral nutrition in humans: an outsider looks in. *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 19:156–65
- Lipman TO. 1998. Grains or veins: Is enteral nutrition really better than parenteral nutrition? A look at the evidence. *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 22:167–82
- Marchesini G, Bianchi G, Merli M, Amodio P, Panella C, et al. 2003. Nutritional supplementation with branchedchain amino acids in advanced cirrhosis: a double-blind, randomized trial. *Gastroen*terology 124:1792–801
- Marik PE, Pinsky M. 2003. Death by parenteral nutrition. *Intensive Care Med*. 29:867–69
- Marik PE, Zaloga GP. 2001. Early enteral nutrition in acutely ill patients: a systematic review. *Crit. Care Med.* 29:2264

 70
- Marino PL, Finnegan MJ. 1996. Nutrition support is not beneficial and can be harmful in critically ill patients. *Crit. Care Clin.* 12:667–76
- Martin CM, Doig GS, Heyland DK, Morrison T, Sibbald WJ. 2004. Multicentre, cluster-randomized clinical trial of algorithms for critical-care enteral and parenteral therapy (ACCEPT). CMAJ 170:197–204
- Marvin RG, McKinley BA, McQuiggan M, Cocanour CS, Moore FA. 2000.

- Nonocclusive bowel necrosis occurring in critically ill trauma patients receiving enteral nutrition manifests no reliable clinical signs for early detection. *Am. J. Surg.* 179:7–12
- Maykel JA, Bistrian BR. 2002. Is enteral feeding for everyone? Crit. Care Med. 30:714–16
- 101. McClave SA, Mitoraj TE, Thielmeier KA, Greenburg RA. 1992. Differentiating subtypes (hypoalbuminemic vs. marasmic) of protein-calorie malnutrition: incidence and clinical significance in a university hospital setting. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 16:337–42
- 102. McClave SA, Sexton LK, Spain DA, Adams JL, Owens NA, et al. 1999. Enteral tube feeding in the intensive care unit: factors impeding adequate delivery. Crit. Care Med. 27:1252–56
- 103. McCowen KC, Friel C, Sternberg J, Chan S, Forse RA, et al. 2000. Hypocaloric total parenteral nutrition: effectiveness in prevention of hyperglycemia and infectious complications—a randomized clinical trial. Crit. Care Med. 28:3606–11
- 104. McCowen KC, Malhotra A, Bistrian BR. 2001. Stress-induced hyperglycemia. Crit. Care Clin. 17:107–24
- McWhirter JP, Pennington CR. 1994. Incidence and recognition of malnutrition in hospital. *BMJ* 308:945–48
- 106. Mentec H, Dupont H, Bocchetti M, Cani P, Ponche F, Bleichner G. 2001. Upper digestive intolerance during enteral nutrition in critically ill patients: frequency, risk factors, and complications. Crit. Care Med. 29:1955–61
- 107. Mesotten D, Swinnen JV, Vanderhoydonc F, Wouters PJ, Van den Berghe G. 2004. Contribution of circulating lipids to the improved outcome of critical illness by glycemic control with intensive insulin therapy. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 89:219–26
- 108. Mizock BA. 1995. Alterations in carbohydrate metabolism during stress: a review of the literature. Am. J. Med. 98:75–84

- 109. Montecalvo MA, Steger KA, Farber HW, Smith BF, Dennis RC, et al. 1992. Nutritional outcome and pneumonia in critical care patients randomized to gastric versus jejunal tube feedings. The Critical Care Research Team. Crit. Care Med. 20:1377– 87
- 110. Montejo JC. 1999. Enteral nutrition-related gastrointestinal complications in critically ill patients: a multicenter study. The Nutritional and Metabolic Working Group of the Spanish Society of Intensive Care Medicine and Coronary Units. Crit. Care Med. 27:1447–53
- 111. Montejo JC, Grau T, Acosta J, Ruiz-Santana S, Planas M, et al. 2002. Multicenter, prospective, randomized, single-blind study comparing the efficacy and gastrointestinal complications of early jejunal feeding with early gastric feeding in critically ill patients. Crit. Care Med. 30:796–800
- 112. Moore EE, Jones TN. 1986. Benefits of immediate jejunostomy feeding after major abdominal trauma—a prospective, randomized study. J. Trauma 26:874–81
- 113. Moore FA, Feliciano DV, Andrassy RJ, McArdle AH, Booth FV, et al. 1992. Early enteral feeding, compared with parenteral, reduces postoperative septic complications. The results of a meta-analysis. Ann. Surg. 216:172–83
- 114. Moore FA, Moore EE, Jones TN, Mc-Croskey BL, Peterson VM. 1989. TEN versus TPN following major abdominal trauma—reduced septic morbidity. *J. Trauma* 29:916–22; discussion 922–23
- 115. Neumann DA, DeLegge MH. 2002. Gastric versus small-bowel tube feeding in the intensive care unit: a prospective comparison of efficacy. Crit. Care Med. 30:1436–38
- 116. Novak F, Heyland DK, Avenell A, Drover JW, Su X. 2002. Glutamine supplementation in serious illness: a systematic review of the evidence. *Crit. Care Med.* 30:2022– 29
- 117. Nygren J, Soop M, Thorell A, Sree Nair K,

- Ljungqvist O. 1999. Preoperative oral carbohydrates and postoperative insulin resistance. *Clin. Nutr.* 18:117–20
- 118. O'Brien BL. 1996. Diarrhea in the critically ill. *Curr. Opin. Crit. Care* 2:140–44
- 119. Pacelli F, Bossola M, Papa V, Malerba M, Modesti C, et al. 2001. Enteral vs. parenteral nutrition after major abdominal surgery: an even match. Arch. Surg. 136:933–36
- 120. Pomposelli JJ, Baxter JK 3rd, Babineau TJ, Pomfret EA, Driscoll DF, et al. 1998. Early postoperative glucose control predicts nosocomial infection rate in diabetic patients. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 22:77–81
- 121. Preiser JC, Berre J, Carpentier Y, Jolliet P, Pichard C, et al. 1999. Management of nutrition in European intensive care units: results of a questionnaire. Working Group on Metabolism and Nutrition of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med.* 25:95–101
- 122. Preiser JC, Chiolero R, Wernerman J. 2003. Nutritional papers in ICU patients: What lies between the lines? *Intensive Care Med.* 29:156–66
- 123. Rapp RP, Young B, Twyman D, Bivins BA, Haack D, et al. 1983. The favorable effect of early parenteral feeding on survival in head-injured patients. *J. Neurosurg.* 58:906–12
- Rassias AJ, Marrin CA, Arruda J, Whalen PK, Beach M, Yeager MP. 1999. Insulin infusion improves neutrophil function in diabetic cardiac surgery patients. *Anesth. Analg.* 88:1011–16
- 125. Reignier J, Bensaid S, Perrin-Gachadoat D, Burdin M, Boiteau R, Tenaillon A. 2002. Erythromycin and early enteral nutrition in mechanically ventilated patients. Crit. Care Med. 30:1237–41
- Reilly J, Mehta R, Teperman L, Cemaj S, Tzakis A, et al. 1990. Nutritional support after liver transplantation: a randomized prospective study. *JPEN J. Parenter. En*teral Nutr. 14:386–91

- Rombeau JL, Takala J. 1997. Summary of round table conference: gut dysfunction in critical illness. *Intensive Care Med*. 23:476–79
- 128. Rubinson L, Diette GB, Song X, Brower RG, Krishnan JA. 2004. Low caloric intake is associated with nosocomial bloodstream infections in patients in the medical intensive care unit. *Crit. Care Med.* 32:350–57
- 129. Sandstrom R, Drott C, Hyltander A, Arfvidsson B, Schersten T, et al. 1993. The effect of postoperative intravenous feeding (TPN) on outcome following major surgery evaluated in a randomized study. Ann. Surg. 217:185–95
- 130. Sax HC, Warner BW, Talamini MA, Hamilton FN, Bell RH Jr, et al. 1987. Early total parenteral nutrition in acute pancreatitis: lack of beneficial effects. Am. J. Surg. 153:117–24
- 131. Schneider SM, Veyres P, Pivot X, Soummer AM, Jambou P, et al. 2004. Malnutrition is an independent factor associated with nosocomial infections. *Br. J. Nutr.* 92:105–11
- Schunn CD, Daly JM. 1995. Small bowel necrosis associated with postoperative jejunal tube feeding. *J. Am. Coll. Surg.* 180:410–16
- 133. Sedman PC, MacFie J, Palmer MD, Mitchell CJ, Sagar PM. 1995. Preoperative total parenteral nutrition is not associated with mucosal atrophy or bacterial translocation in humans. Br. J. Surg. 82:1663–67
- 134. Sedman PC, MacFie J, Sagar P, Mitchell CJ, May J, et al. 1994. The prevalence of gut translocation in humans. *Gastroen*terology 107:643–49
- 135. Shaw JH, Holdaway CM. 1988. Protein-sparing effect of substrate infusion in surgical patients is governed by the clinical state, and not by the individual substrate infused. *JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr.* 12:433–40
- 136. Simpson F, Doig GS. 2005. Parenteral vs. enteral nutrition in the critically ill patient:

- a meta-analysis of trials using the intention to treat principle. *Intensive Care Med.* 31:12–23
- 137. Singh G, Ram RP, Khanna SK. 1998. Early postoperative enteral feeding in patients with nontraumatic intestinal perforation and peritonitis. *J. Am. Coll. Surg.* 187:142–46
- 138. Spapen H, Diltoer M, Van Malderen C, Opdenacker G, Suys E, Huyghens L. 2001. Soluble fiber reduces the incidence of diarrhea in septic patients receiving total enteral nutrition: a prospective, doubleblind, randomized, and controlled trial. Clin. Nutr. 20:301–5
- Streat SJ, Beddoe AH, Hill GL. 1987. Aggressive nutritional support does not prevent protein loss despite fat gain in septic intensive care patients. *J. Trauma* 27:262–66
- 140. Strong RM, Condon SC, Solinger MR, Namihas BN, Ito-Wong LA, Leuty JE. 1992. Equal aspiration rates from postpylorus and intragastric-placed small-bore nasoenteric feeding tubes: a randomized, prospective study. JPEN J. Parenter. Enteral Nutr. 16:59–63
- 141. Studley HO. 1936. Percentage of weight loss: a basic indicator of surgical risk in patients with chronic peptic ulcer. *JAMA* 106:458–60
- 142. Svanfeldt M, Thorell A, Brismar K, Nygren J, Ljungqvist O. 2003. Effects of 3 days of "postoperative" low caloric feeding with or without bed rest on insulin sensitivity in healthy subjects. Clin. Nutr. 22:31–38
- 143. Swinamer DL, Phang PT, Jones RL, Grace M, King EG. 1987. Twenty-four-hour energy expenditure in critically ill patients. Crit. Care Med. 15:637–43
- Takala J. 1995. Nutrition and body composition in multiple organ failure. *Nutri*tion 11:769–70
- 145. Talpers SS, Romberger DJ, Bunce SB, Pingleton SK. 1992. Nutritionally associated increased carbon dioxide production. Excess total calories vs. high proportion

- of carbohydrate calories. *Chest* 102:551–55
- 146. Tanigawa K, Kim YM, Lancaster JR Jr, Zar HA. 1999. Fasting augments lipid peroxidation during reperfusion after ischemia in the perfused rat liver. Crit. Care Med. 27:401–6
- 147. Taskinen MR. 2001. Pathogenesis of dyslipidemia in type 2 diabetes. *Exp. Clin. Endocrinol. Diabetes* 109(Suppl.) 2:S180–88
- 148. Taylor SJ, Fettes SB, Jewkes C, Nelson RJ. 1999. Prospective, randomized, controlled trial to determine the effect of early enhanced enteral nutrition on clinical outcome in mechanically ventilated patients suffering head injury. Crit. Care Med. 27:2525–31
- 149. The Veteran Affairs Total Parenteral Nutrition Cooperative Study Group. 1991. Perioperative total parenteral nutrition in surgical patients. The Veterans Affairs Total Parenteral Nutrition Cooperative Study Group. N. Engl. J. Med. 325:525–32
- 150. Uehara M, Plank LD, Hill GL. 1999. Components of energy expenditure in patients with severe sepsis and major trauma: a basis for clinical care. Crit. Care Med. 27:1295–302
- 151. Van den Berg B, Stam H. 1988. Metabolic and respiratory effects of enteral nutrition in patients during mechanical ventilation. *Intensive Care Med.* 14:206–11
- Van den Berghe G. 2002. Dynamic neuroendocrine responses to critical illness. Front. Neuroendocrinol. 23:370–91
- 153. Van den Berghe G. 2004. How does blood glucose control with insulin save lives in intensive care? J. Clin. Invest. 114:1187– 95
- 154. Van den Berghe G, Baxter RC, Weekers F, Wouters P, Bowers CY, Veldhuis JD. 2000. A paradoxical gender dissociation within the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor I axis during protracted critical illness. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85:183–92

- 155. Van den Berghe G, de Zegher F, Bouillon R. 1998. Clinical review 95: acute and prolonged critical illness as different neuroendocrine paradigms. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 83:1827–34
- 156. Van den Berghe G, Wouters P, Weekers F, Verwaest C, Bruyninckx F, et al. 2001. Intensive insulin therapy in the critically ill patients. N. Engl. J. Med. 345:1359–67
- 157. Van den Berghe G, Wilmer A, Hermans G, Meersseman W, Wouters PJ, et al. 2006. Intensive insulin therapy of medical intensive care patients. N. Engl. J. Med. 354:449–61
- 158. Van den Berghe G, Wouters PJ, Bouillon R, Weekers F, Verwaest C, et al. 2003. Outcome benefit of intensive insulin therapy in the critically ill: insulin dose versus glycemic control. *Crit. Care Med.* 31:359–66
- 159. Van den Berghe G, Wouters PJ, Kesteloot K, Hilleman DE. 2006. Analysis of health care resource utilization with intensive insulin therapy in critically ill patients. Crit. Care Med. 34:612–16
- Varga P, Griffiths R, Chiolero R, Nitenberg G, Leverve X, et al. 2003. Is parenteral nutrition guilty? *Intensive Care Med.* 29:1861–64
- 161. von Meyenfeldt MF, Meijerink WJ, Rouflart MM, Builenmaassen MT, Soeters PB. 1992. Perioperative nutritional support: a randomized clinical trial. Clin. Nutr. 11:180–86
- 162. Weekers F, Giulietti AP, Michalaki M, Coopmans W, Van Herck E, et al. 2003. Metabolic, endocrine, and immune effects of stress hyperglycemia in a rabbit model of prolonged critical illness. *Endocrinol*ogy 144:5329–38
- Wernerman J, Hammarqvist F, Gamrin L, Essen P. 1996. Protein metabolism in critical illness. *Baillieres Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 10:603–15
- 164. Wilmore DW. 1991. Catabolic illness. Strategies for enhancing recovery. N. Engl. J. Med. 325:695–702

- 165. Windsor JA, Knight GS, Hill GL. 1988. Wound healing response in surgical patients: recent food intake is more important than nutritional status. *Br. J. Surg.* 75:135–37
- Wolfe RR, Martini WZ. 2000. Changes in intermediary metabolism in severe surgical illness. World J. Surg. 24:639–47
- Woodcock N, MacFie J. 2002. Optimal nutrition support (and the demise of the enteral versus parenteral controversy). Nutrition 18:523–24
- 168. Woodcock NP, Zeigler D, Palmer MD,

- Buckley P, Mitchell CJ, MacFie J. 2001. Enteral versus parenteral nutrition: a pragmatic study. *Nutrition* 17:1–12
- 169. Yavagal DR, Karnad DR, Oak JL. 2000. Metoclopramide for preventing pneumonia in critically ill patients receiving enteral tube feeding: a randomized controlled trial. Crit. Care Med. 28:1408–11
- 170. Young B, Ott L, Twyman D, Norton J, Rapp R, et al. 1987. The effect of nutritional support on outcome from severe head injury. *J. Neurosurg.* 67:668–76



Contents

DIETARY FIBER: HOW DID WE GET WHERE WE ARE?, Martin Eastwood	1
and David Kritchevsky	1
DEFECTIVE GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS DURING INFECTION, Owen P. McGuinness	9
HUMAN MILK GLYCANS PROTECT INFANTS AGAINST ENTERIC PATHOGENS, David S. Newburg, Guillermo M. Ruiz-Palacios, and Ardythe L. Morrow	37
NUTRITIONAL CONTROL OF GENE EXPRESSION: HOW MAMMALIAN CELLS RESPOND TO AMINO ACID LIMITATION, M.S. Kilberg, YX. Pan, H. Chen, and V. Leung-Pineda	59
MECHANISMS OF DIGESTION AND ABSORPTION OF DIETARY VITAMIN A, Earl H. Harrison	87
REGULATION OF VITAMIN C TRANSPORT, John X. Wilson	105
THE VITAMIN K-DEPENDENT CARBOXYLASE, Kathleen L. Berkner	127
VITAMIN E, OXIDATIVE STRESS, AND INFLAMMATION, U. Singh, S. Devaraj, and Ishwarlal Jialal	151
UPTAKE, LOCALIZATION, AND NONCARBOXYLASE ROLES OF BIOTIN, Janos Zempleni	175
REGULATION OF PHOSPHORUS HOMEOSTASIS BY THE TYPE IIa Na/Phosphate Cotransporter, <i>Harriet S. Tenenhouse</i>	197
SELENOPROTEIN P: AN EXTRACELLULAR PROTEIN WITH UNIQUE PHYSICAL CHARACTERISTICS AND A ROLE IN SELENIUM	
HOMEOSTASIS, Raymond F. Burk and Kristina E. Hill	215
ENERGY INTAKE, MEAL FREQUENCY, AND HEALTH: A NEUROBIOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE, Mark P. Mattson	237
REDOX REGULATION BY INTRINSIC SPECIES AND EXTRINSIC NUTRIENTS IN NORMAL AND CANCER CELLS,	
Archana Jaiswal McEligot, Sun Yang, and Frank L. Meyskens, Jr.	261
REGULATION OF GENE TRANSCRIPTION BY BOTANICALS: NOVEL REGULATORY MECHANISMS, Neil F. Shay and William J. Banz	297

found at http://nutr.annualreviews.org/

POLYUNSATURATED FATTY ACID REGULATION OF GENES OF LIPID METABOLISM, <i>Harini Sampath and James M. Ntambi</i>	317
SINGLE NUCLEOTIDE POLYMORPHISMS THAT INFLUENCE LIPID METABOLISM: INTERACTION WITH DIETARY FACTORS,	
Dolores Corella and Jose M. Ordovas	341
THE INSULIN RESISTANCE SYNDROME: DEFINITION AND DIETARY APPROACHES TO TREATMENT, Gerald M. Reaven	391
DEVELOPMENTAL DETERMINANTS OF BLOOD PRESSURE IN ADULTS, Linda Adair and Darren Dahly	407
PEDIATRIC OBESITY AND INSULIN RESISTANCE: CHRONIC DISEASE RISK AND IMPLICATIONS FOR TREATMENT AND PREVENTION BEYOND BODY WEIGHT MODIFICATION, M.L. Cruz, G.Q. Shaibi, M.J. Weigensberg, D. Spruijt-Metz, G.D.C. Ball, and M.I. Goran	435
ANNUAL LIPID CYCLES IN HIBERNATORS: INTEGRATION OF PHYSIOLOGY AND BEHAVIOR, John Dark	469
DROSOPHILA NUTRIGENOMICS CAN PROVIDE CLUES TO HUMAN GENE-NUTRIENT INTERACTIONS, Douglas M. Ruden, Maria De Luca, Mark D. Garfinkel, Kerry L. Bynum, and Xiangyi Lu	499
* * *	477
THE COW AS A MODEL TO STUDY FOOD INTAKE REGULATION, Michael S. Allen, Barry J. Bradford, and Kevin J. Harvatine	523
THE ROLE OF ESSENTIAL FATTY ACIDS IN DEVELOPMENT,	323
William C. Heird and Alexandre Lapillonne	549
INDEXES	
Subject Index	573
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 21–25	605
Cumulative Index of Chapter Titles, Volumes 21–25	608
Errata	
An online log of corrections to Annual Review of Nutrition chapters may be	